RECEIVED

Sep 26 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chesterfield County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANDRE JUNIOR COVINGTON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000831

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in admitting the video deposition of a jail house snitch and allowing the State to publish the contents of a letter the snitch claimed he received from Appellant offering to make a witness disappear when the evidence did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b) and any possible probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?

2. In this murder case where the body was never recovered, did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April of 2021, the Chesterfield County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Andre Junior Covington, for murder, indictment #2021-GS-13-0461. (R. p. 601). On April 4, 2022, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles. Kyle Hobbs represented Appellant at trial. Kernard Redmond prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty. Judge Nettles sentenced Appellant to forty-five (45) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on June 10, 2022. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 404(b) evidence

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence, appellate courts recognize that the trial judge has considerable latitude in this regard and will not disturb such rulings absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 557, 732 S.E.2d 861, 866 (2012); State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2009). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Whitner, 399 S.C. at 557, 732 S.E.2d at 866.

In order to admit evidence of bad acts not resulting in conviction, the trial court must, “[a]s a threshold matter, ... determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant.” Clasby, 385 S.C. at 154, 682 S.E.2d at 895; “If the trial judge finds the evidence to be relevant, the judge must then determine whether the bad act evidence [is admissible under the terms] of Rule 404(b).” Clasby, 385 S.C. at 154, 682 S.E.2d at 895. If the testimony is relevant and proffered for a permissible purpose, the trial court must next conduct a balancing test, pursuant to Rule 403; where the testimony's probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, the trial court may exclude it. See State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 611, 646 S.E.2d 872, 877 (2007); see also Rule 403, SCRE (“[E]vidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice ...”).

Directed Verdict

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776

(2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 409.

In a murder case, the corpus delicti consists of two elements: the death of a human being and the criminal act of another causing the death. State v. Speights, 263 S.C. 127, 208 S.E.2d 43 (1974). The corpus delicti must be established by the best proof obtainable, direct evidence is not essential, and such may be sufficiently proved by circumstantial evidence when that is the best obtainable. Id. Furthermore, circumstantial evidence may be sufficient to establish the corpus delicti of murder even though the cause of death can not be determined. State v. Howard, 295 S.C. 462, 369 S.E.2d 132 (1988); State v. Thomas 222 S.C. 484, 73 S.E.2d 722 (1952).

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial judge erred in admitting the video deposition of a jail house snitch and allowing the State to publish the contents of a letter the snitch claimed he received from Appellant offering to make a witness disappear when the evidence did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b) and any possible probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.**

In June of 2019, Terris Parsons. “TP,” disappeared. TP has not been seen or heard from since June of 2019. A body was never found. TP’s girlfriend, Latoya Broadie, told police that TP went out to buy cigarettes on June 2, 2019, at 9:45 PM and never returned. (R. p. 110, line 9 – p. 111, lines 1-15). TP was driving a champagne colored 2010 Buick Lacrosse. (R. p. 157, lines 18-21). Broadie was able to access TP’s phone records and the next morning she called one of the numbers displayed from the night before. (R. p. 116, line 5 – p. 117, 118, lines 1-25). The police determined that Appellant was the last person to talk with TP and decided to interview Appellant. (R. p. 153, lines 16-21; State’s Exhibit #80, Interview 1). Appellant denied seeing TP on the evening of June 2, 2019. (State’s Exhibit #80, Interview 1). Video surveillance showed TP’s car going to Appellant’s house on Chapman Street and then both TP’s car and Appellant’s blue Mustang leaving the Chapman Street house in Cheraw. (R. p. 158, line 21 – p. 159, lines 1-22). The police re-interviewed Appellant and his then girlfriend, Lillie Moore, and they were both subsequently charged with obstruction of justice. (R. p. 163, lines 1-23; State’s Exhibit #80, interview #2).

The police also received information that TP’s car may have been seen at an abandoned car wash in Morven, North Carolina. (R. p. 156, lines 9-19). A detective testified that TP’s phone may have been in Morven, North Carolina. (R. p. 228, lines 8-19). The police were unable to locate TP or his car in Morven, North Carolina. (R. p. 156, lines 23-25). The police interviewed Robert Wilson who admitted that on June 2, 2019, he dropped his son off at the son’s home in

Morven, North Carolina. (R. p. 510, lines 2-10). Wilson admitted that while he was in Morven he called TP at about 9:57 PM. (R. p. 510, lines 10-12). Wilson admitted that he deleted text messages from June 2, 2019. (R. p. 510, lines 7-8).

On June 25, 2019, Moore led police to a cream colored car at an abandoned house in Florence. (R. p. 167, line 1 – p. 168, lines 1-25). The car was registered to TP. (R. p. 426, lines 1-5). According to Moore, on June 2, 2019, Appellant asked her to follow him on Highway 52 to Morven, North Carolina as he drove the cream car and she followed in Appellant’s blue Mustang. (See State’s exhibit #81 – video deposition of Lillie Moore and Bruce Romero).¹ Moore denied seeing TP that night. According to Moore, she brought Appellant back home to Cheraw in the blue Mustang. Moore claimed that the next morning Appellant received a phone call from a young lady and Appellant stated that, “He never showed up.” (See State’s Exhibit #81). According to Moore, on the evening of June 3, 2019, she and Appellant went back to a car wash in Morven, North Carolina to move the cream car. (See State’s Exhibit #81). Moore stated that this time she drove Appellant’s Lexus. (See State’s Exhibit #81). According to Moore, she followed Appellant to Florence where Appellant parked the cream car behind a house. (See State’s Exhibit #81). Moore stated that she drove Appellant back to Cheraw in the Lexus. (See State’s Exhibit #81).

On November 26, 2019, Appellant was charged with kidnapping. (R. p. 446, line 25 – p. 447, lines 1-12). At this time Appellant was detained at the Marlboro County Detention Center. (R. p. 437, lines 2-9). On March 18, 2020, Captain Wayne Jordan interviewed Bruce Romero,

¹ Instead of requiring the State to meet its burden of proof and require witnesses Lillie Moore and Bruce Romero to appear at trial, defense counsel agreed to the video depositions of these two witnesses on February 9, 2022, prior to trial. (R. p. 210, line 16 – p. 211, 212, lines 1-25). This matter will need to be addressed in PCR.

who was also detained at the Marlboro County Detention Center. (R. p. 438, line 17 – p. 439, lines 1-18). Romero gave Captain Jordan a letter he claimed was from Appellant. (R. p. 439, lines 19-23). A video deposition of Romero was played at trial. (R. p. 461, line 11 -p. 462, lines 1-12). The video deposition is included in State's exhibit #81 with Lillie Moore's video deposition. While trial counsel did not object to the procedure and use of the video deposition, counsel did object to the content of the Romero deposition and reference to the letter based on Rule 404(b) and 403, SCRE. (R. pp. 71-83).

The judge overruled the objection and found that a redacted version could be published to the jury. (R. p. 210, line 1 – p. 211, lines 1-11). Counsel renewed the objection when the Romero video deposition was played for the jury and before the letter was published. (R. p. 461, line 25 – p. 462, lines 1-2). The prosecutor read to the jury the content of a redacted letter Romero claimed was given to him by Appellant. (R. p. 462, line 18 – p. 463, lines 1-4). At the close of the State's case counsel renewed the objection to the content of the Romero deposition and the letter. (R. p. 488, lines 8-11). The objections were again overruled. (R. p. 490, lines 4-7). The trial judge erred in admitting the video deposition of Bruce Romero and allowing the State to publish the contents of a letter Romero claimed he received from Appellant offering to make a witness disappear when the evidence did not meet an exception pursuant to Rule 404(b) and any possible probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

Romero became a jailhouse snitch. Romero met Appellant while they were both at the Marlboro County Detention Center. (See State's Exhibit #81). Romero claimed that while they were in jail Appellant gave him a copy of his kidnapping arrest warrant and a letter. (See State's Exhibit #81). In the video deposition Romero stated that he believed the letter could help him

with the serious charges he was facing. (See State's Exhibit #81). At trial the prosecutor read the purported letter to the jury stating:

First, let me tell you how I can help you in a major way. If they don't have any witnesses they don't have a case. You follow me. I can make that happen. Trust me. That can be done while you're out on bond for the State bonds for the State charge, which, you know, the charge will get dismissed because there is no one to take the stand against you. Are you still with me.

Once again, I'm telling you that if I get out, there will be nobody to take the stand. I can make witnesses disappear. They wouldn't have a case because they have to be able to take the stand. Trust me. I want this paper back.

(R. p. 462, line 18 – p. 463, lines 1-4). Romero claimed on the video deposition that Appellant wanted Romero to give him one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) so he could hire a lawyer and get a bond. (See State's Exhibit #81). The Romero video deposition and contents of the purported letter should have been excluded. The error in the trial judge refusing to exclude this evidence requires reversal of the conviction and remand for a new trial.

In ruling that the letter was admissible the trial judge stated:

With regard to the letter, I am gonna allow the redacted – we've had discussions in chambers about that and we're gonna allow the redacted version of it to be published before the jury. And the reason for that is I specifically find that the prejudicial value does not over-override the probative value with regard to this particular piece of evidence. And when you look at all of the evidence, and the fact that there was a warrant and the letter, it's probative with regard to identity and that the reason why I'm admitting it.

(R. p. 210, lines 1-10). The trial judge erred. The evidence does not meet the identity exception, or any other exception of Rule 404(b). Any possible probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

Rule 404(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides, "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a

common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.” Appellant’s purported claim that he could make a witness disappear in order to convince Romero to give him money is evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts pursuant to the rule. The Romero evidence serves no legitimate purpose and fails to meet an exception to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent. The Romero evidence should have been excluded.

In State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 842 S.E.2d 654 (2020), the South Carolina Supreme Court confirmed the logical connection test for the admission of evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE, established in State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). In Perry the Court wrote:

Historically, to justify a finding that evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is offered for a legitimate purpose, and thus should not be excluded pursuant to Rule 404(b), South Carolina courts have required a logical relevancy or connection between the other crime and some disputed fact or element of the crime charged. See, e.g., Gaines, 380 S.C. at 29, 667 S.E.2d at 731 (“To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged.”); State v. Brooks, 341 S.C. 57, 61, 533 S.E.2d 325, 327-28 (2000) (“If the court does not clearly perceive the connection between the extraneous criminal transaction and the crime charged, that is, its logical relevancy, the accused should be given the benefit of the doubt, and the evidence should be rejected.” (quoting Lyle, 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807)).

430 S.C. at 31, 842 S.E.2d at 658.

Evidence that Appellant tried to con Romero into giving him money by claiming that he could make a witness disappear has no logical relevance or connection to some disputed fact or element in the murder of TP. There is no allegation that TP was murdered to prevent him from testifying against someone in a trial. The Romero evidence fails to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.

The trial judge erred in finding that the letter was probative of identity. Appellant’s purported claim that he could make a witness disappear, supported by nothing more than the

allegation contained in the arrest warrant for kidnapping, does not refute the defense of alibi as the evidence of two other forgeries in the same city on the same day did in State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). While Appellant denied seeing TP on the night of June 2, 2019, the purported interaction between Appellant and Romero took place some time in March of 2020. The State failed to demonstrate that the Romero evidence served some purpose other than using Appellant's character to show his propensity to commit the crime charged.

If Appellant's attempt to con Romero into giving him money to make bond is somehow construed to show identity for the murder charge, any possible probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. In State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 44, 842 S.E.2d 654, 665 (2020), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The State must also convince the trial court that the probative force of the evidence when used for this legitimate purpose is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice from the inherent tendency of the evidence to show the defendant's propensity to commit similar crimes. Rule 403, SCRE. Whether the State has met its burden "should be subjected by the courts to rigid scrutiny," considering the individual facts of and circumstances of each case. 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807.

Under rigid scrutiny, considering the individual facts and circumstances of this case, any possible probative value of the Romero evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice from the inherent tendency of the evidence to show Appellant's propensity to commit the crime charged. The Romero evidence does not meet the clear and convincing standard required by State v. Smith, 300 S.C. 216, 387 S.E.2d 245 (1989). The State relied heavily on the Romero evidence in closing argument, referring to the evidence as the "cherry on top." (R. p. 532, lines 1-25; p. 535, lines 4-10). As TP's body was never found, the State relied on a "pattern of life" assessment to establish death. (R. p. 433, line 19 – pp. 434-436, lines 1-5). While Moore's video deposition testimony about Appellant attempting to conceal the cream car may raise

suspicion, there is no forensic evidence linking Appellant to the murder of TP. The trial judge erred in refusing to suppress both the Romero video deposition and letter. The error is not harmless.

2. In this murder case where the body was never recovered, the trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal when the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt.

The present case is a “no body” murder case. The State presented no evidence of violence or other means of death used upon TP. TP’s body and no part of his body has ever been found. The State relied on testimony from family members and a “pattern of life” assessment to establish death. (R. p. 433, line 19 – pp. 434-436, lines 1-5). At the close of the State’s case Appellant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal. (R. p. 490, line 8 – pp. 491 – 495, lines 1-9). The trial judge denied the motion for directed verdict stating, “Motion for directed verdict is denied. It is indeed a question of fact for the jury.” (R. p. 497, line 25 – p. 498, line 1). The lack of evidence was additionally argued in a post-trial motion for new trial. (R. pp. 588-594). The trial judge denied the motion stating, “Mr. Hobbs, taking into consideration all of the circumstantial evidence, and there was a bunch of it, clearly there was contact with him before the – he – the deceased went missing. The text messages confirmed that. We have video of him coming to his residence and there was confirmation in the texts that he was indeed there. He secreted evidence by lying in the -- in his statements and he secreted the car. All of which the jury took into consideration.” (R. p. 598, lines 6-14). The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for murder when the State failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt.

A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the prosecution fails to provide evidence of the offense charged. State v. Brown, 103 S.C. 437, 88 S.E.21 (1916); State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279,

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