**RECEIVED**

**Sep 26 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chesterfield County  
The Honorable Michael O. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ANDRE JUNIOR COVINGTON,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000831

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.  
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit

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

### ARGUMENT

**I. The trial court did not err in admitting the testimony of Fausten Romero and the letter from Appellant regarding the offer to make a witnesses disappear.**

To the extent the letter and testimony from Fausten Romero can even be considered 404(b) evidence, the trial court did not err in finding the evidence admissible as evidence of guilt.

However, the application of Rule 404(b) is unnecessary and represents a depreciative view of the evidence's value, as the letter and arrest warrant actually constitute circumstantial evidence of a confession by Appellant. As such, the evidence and testimony were properly admitted and Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

"Under Rule 404(b), SCRE, evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is generally not admissible to prove the defendant's guilt for the crime charged. Such evidence is, however, admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent." *State v. Fletcher*, 379 S.C. 17, 23, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008) (citing *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006); *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923)). "To be admissible, the bad act must logically relate to the crime with which the defendant has been charged. If the defendant was not convicted of the prior crime, evidence of the prior bad act must be clear and convincing." *Id.* "Even if prior bad act evidence is clear and convincing and falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant." *Id.* (citing Rules 403 and 404(b), SCRE). "The determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case." *Id.* (citing *State v. Bell*, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 364, cert. denied, 498 U.S. 881, 111 S.Ct. 227, 112 L.Ed.2d 182 (1990)).

The issue at hand arises via pretrial motions wherein Appellant objected to the admissibility of the evidence as being a prior bad act without an exemption under Rule 404(b) and *Lyle*. Appellant argued that the letter "does not reference anything about the case at hand" and that Victim "was not a witness in a case". He then argued that the disappearance of a witness and the disappearance of Victim are not a sufficient parallel, and that such is a "conjecture" of the State. He then argued that the letter would be an unduly prejudicial prior bad act tending to suggest a

decision on an emotional basis. (R. p. 74-77). In response, the Deputy Solicitor properly noted that the key element to this matter is not the letter (often referred to as a note), *but the warrant* and its indication that Victim “has not been seen since”. In short, the solicitor argued that providing the warrant, in tandem with context of the letter, is an assertion by Appellant that he can make someone disappear. Therein, the evidence goes to establish multiple exceptions to the 404(b) prior bad acts evidence rule, including identity. (R. p. 77-79).

The trial court took the matter under advisement and ultimately found the evidence admissible. The court found that “the prejudicial value does not over – override the probative value with regard to this particular piece of evidence. And when you look at all the evidence, *and the fact that there was a warrant and the letter*, it’s probative with regard to identity.” (R. p. 210)(emphasis added). The video testimony of Fausten Romero was later published for the jury. (R. p. 461).

Depending on the inference that one wishes to take from the evidence, the ruling of the trial court to admit the video testimony and letter was correct for two reasons. First, as the issue was objected to on the grounds of violating 404(b), the court viewed the evidence in the light of 404(b) prior bad acts. In so doing, and to the extent that evidence can be viewed in the spectrum of 404(b) analysis, the letter constitutes an offer by Appellant of making someone disappear (in the case of Mr. Romero, a witness that would be vital to his case) in exchange for money.<sup>4</sup> That

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellant wants this court to focus upon the supposed disconnect of Appellant’s “con” to the Victim’s murder. But the connection is not the “con” itself, it is the use of his own warrant to make the disappearance of a witness seem achievable and to make what Appellant suggests is a “con” appear legitimate. Even more detrimental to Appellant’s argument in this regard, is that he barely even mentions the accompanying warrant in his brief. As argued by the Deputy Solicitor, and identified by the trial court in its ruling, the warrant is the crucial part of this issue, and Appellant’s failure to address and challenge the impact of the warrant on the nature of the evidence greatly diminishes the efficacy of his argument for error by the trial court.

may indeed be inadmissible, had the letter been the only thing handed to Mr. Romero that day. However, as the court explicitly mentions, this letter was accompanied by Appellant's arrest warrant, and the warrant creates the logical connection between Appellant's existing crime and his prior bad act of offering similar services of a future crime. The warrant serves as the *bona fides* for Appellant's offer. As such, the letter and accompanying arrest warrant go to the establishment of identity in Victim's murder as an exception under Rule 404(b). In short, Appellant's use of the warrant to make the offer appear legitimate, constitutes evidence identifying Appellant as the individual responsible for Victim's disappearance.

While that inference from the evidence is acceptable, and the ruling of the court is entirely proper in relation to the objection that was raised, it does a great injustice to the evidence that is being presented. Appellant's provision of the warrant in tandem with the letter does not just simply provide a *bona fides* for Appellant's offer and substantiate the letter as evidence of identity. Taken together, the provision of the warrant in connection with the letter offering services of making a witness disappear is circumstantial evidence of a *confession* of his guilt for Victim's fate. Appellant is, by fairly clear inference, using his own arrest warrant for the kidnapping of Victim Parsons as a résumé or work history demonstrating a crime he has already successfully committed. This is not a difficult conclusion to reach, as Mr. Romero testified specifically that this was the inference he took away from Appellant's offer as well. (State's Ex. 81, at 11:00 – 11:07). Admittedly, it is not an "overt" confession – which is why Mr. Romero also testified that Appellant did not explicitly confess to his charges. However, circumstantial evidence of a confession does occur, and the inference or inferences that need be made to deem words or conduct a confession is an issue rightfully put before the jury. See *State v. Rogers*, 405 S.C. 554, 564, 748 S.E.2d 265, 270 (Ct. App. 2013). At a bare minimum it constitutes evidence of consciousness of guilt, and "[a]s a

general rule, any guilty act, conduct, or statements on the part of the accused are admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt.” *State v. McDowell*, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976). The evidence and testimony were admissible as circumstantial evidence of guilt for which the jury could have interpreted to be an outright confession or evidence of consciousness of guilt.

The distinction between how the evidence is used: a) as *bona fides* to legitimize his offer thereby establishing evidence of identity, versus b) strictly evidence of guilt by way of a circumstantial confession is not substantial. What is substantial, however, is that one focuses upon a prior bad act, and the other focuses upon the admission of guilt for the crime being tried. Even though it was capable of doing so, the evidence did not need to pass through the scrutiny of Rule 404(b) analysis. Appellant cannot seek to *rely* upon the warrant as proof of his own credentials while not also suggesting that he is in fact guilty of “disappearing” Victim by way of murdering him. The ruling of the trial court was acceptable, but the more blatant interpretation of the evidence renders it simply admissible evidence of guilt.

**II. The trial court correctly denied Appellant’s motion for directed verdict, as there was substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove Appellant murdered Victim.**

The fact that this is a “no body” case, does not detract from the substantial circumstantial evidence presented in this case that Appellant murdered Victim. The trial court correctly denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict at trial, and the conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

“A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged.” *State v. Buckmon*, 347 S.C. 316, 321, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404 (2001) (citing *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 544 S.E.2d 30 (2001)). “If there is any direct evidence or

substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, we must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *Id.* Accordingly, a trial judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty. *Id.* (citing *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001)). “‘Suspicion’ implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” *Id.*

The Supreme Court in *Weston* articulated that the lack of a recovered body does not necessarily prevent the satisfaction of the corpus delicti of a murder case. Where the sudden disappearance of the Victim is in contrast with the testimony establishing his pattern of life and relationships, so as to render voluntary disappearance an unlikely conclusion, the first element of the corpus delicti has been satisfied. Appellant has essentially conceded that the “pattern of life” testimony provided in the record is sufficient to satisfy the first element requiring the death of a human being.<sup>5</sup> (See Brief of Appellant, p. 13). Appellant contests the sufficiency of the evidence toward the second element –the criminal act of another causing death”. However, Appellant’s arguments fail to demonstrate error on the part of the trial court.

When the circumstantial evidence from the record is *appropriately* itemized, it establishes the following facts:

1. On June 2<sup>nd</sup>, a little after 9pm, Victim was alive and well while buying cigarettes and candy at the Alco station mere minutes before he pulled up to Appellant’s home. (R. p. 158; p. 340);

---

<sup>5</sup> To the extent Appellant argues that he has not conceded the first element. Respondent would argue that the State presented more than sufficient “pattern of life” evidence to satisfy the standard. Victim was a loving and involved father, he was in the process of financing a home with Ms. Broadie, they had plans on getting married, he was starting a new job, and he was frequently communicative with multiple members of his family. All communications and interactions of any kind abruptly ended while he was located at Appellant’s residence, and they have never resumed.

2. Surveillance footage demonstrated that after leaving the Alco station, Victim drove to Appellant's residence. (R. p. 158-159; p. 164; p. 340-341);
3. Victim and Appellant shared texts messages on the night of June 2<sup>nd</sup> that suggested Appellant expected a visit from Victim and confirmed that Appellant was home at the time Victim arrived. (R. p. 339-340);
4. Victim arrived at Appellant's home at 9:18pm by driving his Buick Lacrosse. (R. p. 340-341);
5. A 9:40pm text from Victim's phone was received by Robert Wilson stating: "Im on my way". Mr. Wilson responds: "to where?", and that text was never responded to. This exchange took place before any further movement is seen from Victim's vehicle. No further outgoing communications come from Victim's phone. (R. p. 341-343);
6. Video surveillance showed that Victim's car left Appellant's home nearly an hour after arriving, at 10:06pm, and was followed from behind by Appellant's blue Mustang. Ms. Moore's testimony demonstrated that Appellant was driving Victim's Buick to Morven for the purpose of abandoning it at the carwash. Ms. Moore testified that she was following the Buick at Appellant's reluctant instruction, that she was told to leave her phone at home, and that she never saw Victim that night. (R. p. 342-345);
7. Text message history showed that Appellant texted Victim, "If you don't want the puppy just say that. Don't have me waiting on you. Call me in the morning.", despite the evidence that Victim clearly arrived at Appellant's home that night. (R. p. 349);
8. Ms. Moore testified that after abandoning Victim's car in Morven, Appellant was picked up from the roadside and brought home by Ms. Moore in the Mustang, as was his plan. She further testified that he was home alone upon their return while she helped

his sister, and that after she returned, he was “in and out” a lot that night. She also testified that he was using a burn pile that night. (R. p. 309; State’s Ex. 81).

9. In addition to Appellant’s efforts to abandon Victim’s car in nearby Morven, and his efforts to send what can reasonably be inferred as a fake text to Victim in an attempt to support his lie that Victim had not shown up at his house, SLED was also getting ping data showing that Victim’s cellphone may have been in the Morven area of North Carolina. (R. p. 228);
10. Both Ms. Broadie’s and Ms. Moore’s testimony demonstrated that Ms. Broadie spoke with Appellant the following morning on June 3<sup>rd</sup>. (R. p. 117-119; p. 153-155; Ex. 81);
11. After receiving that phone call, Appellant had Ms. Moore drive up with him to Morven, collect Victim’s car, crank it with a key, and drive it nearly 50 miles away into Florence County in order to park it tightly behind an abandoned house. Despite her requests, Appellant would not tell Ms. Moore what he was doing or why. (Ex. 81);
12. When questioned for the first time on June 4<sup>th</sup> by police regarding their missing person’s case, the record evidence demonstrated that Appellant misled police when he denied seeing Victim on June 2<sup>nd</sup>. (R. p. 303; Ex. 80; et al.);
13. When questioned for the second time on June 7<sup>th</sup> by police regarding their missing person’s case, the record demonstrated that Appellant again misled the police when he denied seeing Victim on June 2<sup>nd</sup>. (R. p. 306; p. 327-328; Ex. 80; et al.);
14. Ms. Moore voluntarily chose to cooperate with law enforcement and led them to Victim’s hidden Buick in Florence, thereby corroborating the testimony she provided as to hers and Appellant’s actions over the course of June 2<sup>nd</sup> and June 3<sup>rd</sup>. (Ex. 81; p. 314-317).

15. Once in prison, Appellant provided fellow inmate, Fausten Romero, with an offer to disappear a witness along with a copy of his arrest warrant for kidnapping of Victim. Such was provided as proof to Mr. Romero that he is capable of making people disappear and thereby constituted circumstantial evidence of a confession that he is guilty of Victim's murder. (Ex. 81).

All of this evidence strongly supports the conclusion that Victim was last alive at Appellant's residence, and the lies, secrecy, and efforts to dispose of evidence prove that his life was ended by the malicious criminal actions of Appellant. All of which is bolstered by the inferred confession stemming from Appellant's use of his own arrest warrant as credentials for his ability to make another inmate's witness disappear. The trial court was correct to deny Appellant's directed verdict motion as there is in fact substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt. (R. p. 490-498). As the court similarly noted during the post-trial motion hearings, "there was a bunch of it" and the court then summarized the case against Appellant, which included his various efforts of dishonesty in covering up Victim's disappearance. (R. p. 598).

In denying a directed verdict motion "[a] court is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis." *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 236, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). There was more than enough evidence available to present the case to the jury, and the jury returned a guilty verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. The ruling of the trial court was correct and Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

### **CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.